NO. 91069-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON [Court of Appeals No. 45320-7-II]

Hartford Fire Insurance Company,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.
Columbia State Bank, Defendant/Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT E STATE OF WASHINGTON Todd W. Blischke, WSBA #42474
Mark S. Davidson, WSBA #06430
WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC
Attorneys for Petitioner
Two Union Square
601 Union Street, Suite 4100
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 628-6600
tblischke@williamskastner.com
mdavidson@williamskastner.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Plaintiff/Petitioner Hartford Fire Insurance Company ("Hartford") asks the Supreme Court to accept review of the published decision of the Court of Appeals designated in Part II pursuant to the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 13.4(a); (b)(2); and (b)(4).

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Hartford Fire Insurance Company v. Columbia State Bank, __ Wn. App. ___, 334 P.3d 87, 2014 Wash. App. LEXIS 2213 (No. 45320-7-II), filed September 9, 2014. Hartford's motion for reconsideration was denied. 2014 Wash. App. LEXIS 2600 (October 29, 2014). The Appendix includes copies of the decision and the order denying the motion for reconsideration.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where a Public Construction Contract Provided that Progress Payments Were Impressed with a Trust for the Benefit of the Surety, Did the Court Of Appeals Opinion Holding that the Owner's Progress Payment to the Contractor Was Not Subject to an Express Trust Conflict with *Westview Investments, Ltd. V. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, 133 Wn. App. 835 (2006), Which Holds that Progress Payments Made Under Construction Contracts Held in Trust for a Specific Use Do Not Belong to

the Contractor and May Not Be Set Off to Repay a Bank Loan Where the Bank Knew or Had Reason to Know the Funds Were Held in Trust?

- 2. Did the Court of Appeals Opinion Holding that a Progress Payment Paid to a Defaulting Contractor by the Owner under a Public Construction Contract Whose Completion Was Guaranteed by a Bond Issued by a Surety Belonged to the Free Flow of Commerce and Was Properly Set Off by the Contractor's Third Party Bank Creditor Conflict with *Levinson v. Linderman*, 51 Wn. 2d 855 (1958), Which Holds that a Surety Is Equitably Subrogated to the Contractor's Right to Receive the Owner's Payments from the Time It Issued a Performance Bond?
- 3. If Not Reversed, Will the Court of Appeals' Opinion Holding that Payments from an Owner to a Defaulting Contractor and Which Are Expressly Impressed With a Trust Are Not Subject to an Express Trust Have a Substantial Negative Impact on Surety Bonding and Public Works Construction in the State?
- 4. If Not Reversed, Will the Court of Appeals' Opinion Holding that a Surety Does Not Have an Equitable Lien on Owner Payments to a Defaulting Contractor and that the Payments Belong to the Free Flow of Commerce and Are Subject to Being Set Off by the Contractor's Third Party Bank Creditor Have a Substantial Negative Impact on Surety Bonding and Public Works Construction in the State?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Summary of the Underlying Events.</u>

Waka Group, Inc. ("Waka"), contracted with the United States General Services Administration (the "GSA") to renovate a border station in Dalton, Alaska. CP 98. As in virtually all public construction contract contexts, the GSA required Waka to obtain a surety bond to guarantee completion of the work and payment of subcontractors, suppliers and materialmen. In order to induce Hartford to issue bonds on behalf of Waka, on June 13, 2011, Waka executed a General Indemnity Agreement ("GIA") with Hartford. CP 64. One week later, Waka opened a line of credit and established a collateral control account at Columbia State Bank. CP 218. On March 1, 2012, pursuant to the GIA, Hartford issued Performance and Payment Bond No. 52BCSGC8757 on behalf of Waka for the Dalton project (the "Bond"). CP 102. Thereafter, pursuant to its contract with the GSA, Waka commenced work.

On June 18, 2012, Waka stopped performing under the GSA contract, with 55-60% of the work unfinished, and notified Hartford that it would be unable to complete the job. CP 99. On June 20, 2012, Hartford and Waka notified the GSA of Waka's default, advised that Hartford would be taking over the project, and directed the GSA to make progress

payments to it. CP 86, 380. The GSA acknowledged Hartford's right to the contract funds and agreed to remit all future payments to Hartford. CP 88. The GSA had initiated an electronic progress payment to Waka earlier on June 20, and acknowledging Hartford as the completing surety was entitled to the contract balance, it attempted to stop that payment. CP 65. It was unable to stop the payment in time; hence, the funds were credited to Waka's account the following morning. CP 65, 108-09. The Bank immediately swept the funds, claiming a right to setoff against Waka's delinquent loan balance. *Id.* In response to Hartford's assertion that the progress payment consisted of trust funds and its request that the Bank deliver the funds to it, the Bank refused. CP 90, 117-18. Hartford proceeded to complete the construction project and to sue the Bank in Pierce County Superior Court for the disputed progress payment. The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment in the trial court, and orders were entered in favor of the Bank. Hartford appealed. The resulting decision of the Court of Appeals is the subject of this petition.

B. The General Indemnity Agreement between Waka and Hartford Expressly Provides that All Money Paid Under the Contract for Which a Bond Had Been Issued Is Impressed With a Trust.

The GIA includes a provision entitled, "Trust Fund," which expressly provides that "all money paid...under contracts relating to or for which a Bond has been issued *shall be impressed with a trust....*" CP 13

(emphasis added). In sworn testimony, both Waka and Hartford confirmed their intention to create a trust. CP 100 at 14:12-17; CP 374; CP 380. The GIA also provides that Waka assigned to Hartford, *inter alia*, its rights under the bonded contract and to accounts, deferred payments and retainage in which it had an interest, further evincing the intent of the parties to create a trust as to all money paid under the contract. CP 13. Nevertheless, in affirming the trial court's summary judgment orders in favor of the Bank, the Court of Appeals concluded that the GIA did not create an express trust, and, for that reason, held that the progress payment was subject to being swept by the Bank as a third party creditor. Longstanding Washington law defines an express trust:

An express trust is one created by the act of the parties; and where a person has, or accepts, possession of money, promissory notes, or other personal property with the express or implied understanding that he is not to hold it as his own absolute property, but to hold and apply it for certain specified purposes, an express trust exists.²

As explained below, the undisputed evidence establishes each of these elements. The progress payment consisted of trust funds held by Waka for the benefit of Hartford, and the Court of Appeals decision was in error.

¹ As a result of the Bank's action, Hartford, as Waka's surety, was required to cover the obligations which went unpaid. CP 374.

² This definition dates to *Tucker v. Brown*, 199 Wash. 320, 330-31, 92 P.2d 221 (1939), was reiterated in *Westview Investments, Ltd. V. U.S. Bank National Association*, 133 Wn. App. 835, 845-46, 138 P.3d 638 (2006) ("*Westview*"), and most recently in *In re Washington Builders Benefit Trust*, 173 Wn. App. 34, 58, 293 P.3d 1206 (2013).

1. Act of the Parties.

Execution of the GIA with its provision stating that money paid under the contract was impressed with a trust constituted the necessary affirmative act of the parties.

2. <u>Possession of Money or Personal Property.</u>

Waka came into possession of the progress payment when the payment was electronically transferred to its account at the Bank after it had defaulted on the construction contract, but before the GSA could stop the transfer. CP 65, 108-09.

3. <u>Understanding That Money or Personal Property is to be Applied for Specified Purposes.</u>

Both the "Trust Fund" and "Assignment" provisions of the GIA demonstrate the parties' understanding that contract funds, including the progress payment swept by the Bank, were not the absolute property of Waka. Consistent with the GIA's provisions stating that "the entire contract price shall be dedicated to the satisfaction of the obligations of the Bond and this Agreement," and that "All money paid ... shall be used for no other purpose until all such obligations have been fully satisfied," CP 13, Waka, as trustee, was required to apply the contract funds to satisfy the obligations guaranteed by the Bond. For the same purpose, the GIA provided that Waka "irrevocably assign[ed]" to Hartford all rights arising from any bonded contract." CP 13.

Despite this undisputed evidence, the Court of Appeals held that the GIA "did not establish a trust and that no trust existed" at the time of the progress payment. Slip. Op. at 9.

C. The Court of Appeals Declined to Follow Westview.

In *Westview*, the Court of Appeals reversed a summary judgment in favor of the defendant bank, which had swept the contractor's account and set off the funds against the contractor's delinquent loan balance, finding that an express trust had been established by the construction contract (despite the absence of express creation language in the contract; in fact, the word "trust" did not appear in the contract). 133 Wn. App. at 849.³ The plaintiffs in *Westview* were the property owners ("akin" to the GSA in the instant case) rather than sureties, and the Court of Appeals found the case distinguishable for that reason. Slip Op. at 7. The Court did not, however, explain why this factual distinction was significant, and it was not significant because both the owners in *Westview* and the surety here were responsible for paying the costs to complete the respective construction projects, including payment of the contractors' financial obligations to subcontractors and materialmen.

³ Westview was remanded for trial as to whether the bank knew facts which, under the circumstances, would lead a reasonably intelligent and diligent person to inquire whether the contractor was acting as a trustee of the progress payments. 133 Wn. App. at 849. Here, Hartford submitted evidence that Columbia Bank knew or should have known that Waka was acting as a trustee of the progress payment made by the GSA. CP 100-02.

The Court of Appeals also distinguished *Westview* based on the lack of evidence here that subcontractors were unpaid at the time the progress payment was deposited to Waka's account. *Id.* However, under Waka's contract with the GSA, the subcontractors must have been unpaid when the progress payment was made, since the purpose of the payment was to pay them. Waka's contract with the GSA required a certification from Waka before a progress payment could be made that, "All payments due to subcontractors and suppliers from previous payments received under the contract have been made, and *timely payments will be made from the proceeds of the payment covered by this certification....*" CP 348 (emphasis supplied) (footnote omitted).

In distinguishing *Westview*, the Court of Appeals also cited the provision in the construction contract at issue there requiring the general contractor to hold progress payments for the benefit of project subcontractors, noting the absence of such a requirement here. Slip Op. at 8. In fact, while Waka's construction contract with the GSA did not include such an explicit provision, it did require that Waka certify that the progress payment would be used to timely pay subcontractors. CP 348. Again, the Court of Appeals did not explain why this factual distinction had significance where, in both cases, the progress payment was made for the same reason, to pay subcontractors. Finally, the Court of Appeals

cited a lack of evidence that Hartford or Waka contemplated that project payments would be held to satisfy Bond obligations. Slip Op. at 8. However, the record included evidence that Waka was obliged under its construction contract with the GSA to use progress payments to pay subcontractors, CP 348, and that one of Hartford's primary obligations to Waka under the GIA was to pay subcontractors who had not been paid by the contractor. CP 64-65. Thus, the Court of Appeals overlooked the evidence that here, as in *Westview*, both the contractor and the party obligated to pay if the contractor did not pay contemplated that project progress payments would be used to satisfy the obligations of the guarantors.

In concluding that the progress payment was not subject to an express trust, the Court of Appeals asserted that Hartford's position would lead to absurd results, specifically, that Waka could not have used progress payments to pay subcontractors or other project expenses until completion of the project and discharge of the Bond. Slip Op. at 8. However, that result would not follow because the Trust Fund provision of the GIA expressly provides that money paid

[U]nder contracts relating to or for which a Bond has been written shall be impressed with a trust for the purpose of satisfying the obligations of the Bond Underwritten for said contract *and this Agreement* and shall be used for no other purpose until all such obligations have been satisfied.

CP 13 (emphasis added). In other words, the contract funds impressed with a trust were expressly authorized to be used to satisfy the obligations of the GIA, *i.e.*, to complete the project. Thus, existence of a trust would not have prevented Waka from using progress payments to pay subcontractors and other project expenses prior to completion of the project and discharge of the Bond.

D. The Court of Appeals Recognized that Hartford Was Equitably Subrogated to Waka's Right to Receive Payments from the GSA Upon its Issuance of the Surety Bond, but Found that the Progress Payment Was Not Subject to an Equitable Lien.

An equitable lien constitutes a charge or encumbrance upon property. *Nelson v. Nelson Neal Lumber Co.*, 171 Wash. 55, 61, 17 P.2d 626 (1932). The Court of Appeals properly recognized that "the equitable right of subrogation is created at the time the surety issues the payment and/or performance bonds," citing *Levinson v. Linderman*, 51 Wn. 2d 855, 864, 322 P.2d 863 (1958), and *In re Massart Co.*, 105 B.R. 610, 612 (W.D. Wash. 1989). Slip Op. at 10. Nevertheless, the Court concluded that, "Hartford had not obtained an equitable lien at the time Columbia [State Bank] took the money." *Id.* The Court attributed this apparent contradiction to the fact that at the time the Bank took the money, Hartford had not yet paid its obligations under the Bond; a lack of evidence that the subcontractors had not been paid at that time; and the fact that the

payment was a progress payment rather than retainage. However, because Hartford was subrogated to Waka's rights to receive payments from the GSA from the time it issued the Bond, every progress payment was encumbered by Hartford's equitable lien and could be used only to pay subcontractors and otherwise cover obligations which would accrue to Hartford if the contractor defaulted.⁴ The progress payment at issue was received by Waka after it had gone into default, emphasizing the reason why it was subject to Hartford's lien. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that Hartford did not have an equitable lien on the money at the time the Bank took it cannot be reconciled with Hartford's subrogation rights as recognized by *Levinson* and acknowledged by the Court of Appeals itself.

The Court of Appeals justified its apparent contradictory conclusions by relying on the fact that at the time the Bank took the money, Hartford had not yet acted under its Bond. However, even if Hartford's right to enforce its lien did not arise until the time it made payment under the Bond, the issue is one of timing, and the fact that

⁴ The Court distinguished between progress payments and retainage by characterizing the former as belonging to the "free flow of commerce once they are properly paid over." Slip Op. at 10-11. That would be true, however, only if the progress payments were unencumbered when paid over. However, where, as here, the surety was equitably subrogated to the contractor's right to payment from the owner, its lien extended to both progress payments and retainage. See In re E.R. Fegert, Inc., 88 B.R. 258, 261 (9th Cir. BAP 1988), aff'd, 887 F.2d 955 (9th Cir. 1989) ("We conclude that the surety would have been entitled to assert a lien for both any unpaid progress payments or funds held as retainage"), citing National Shawmut Bk. of Boston v. New Amsterdam Cas. Co., 411 F.2d 843, 848 (1st Cir. 1969), and American Fire & Cas. Co. v. First Nat. Bank of New York, 411 F.2d 755, 758 (1st Cir. 1969).

performance under the Bond had not yet occurred at the time the Bank took the money did not justify the Court's holding that Hartford had no lien at that time and that the Bank was entitled to the money free and clear of Hartford's claimed right to the funds.⁵ The dispute here is analogous to *Fidelity & Deposit Co. v. United States*, 183 Ct. Cl. 908 (1968), where a bank and a surety contested claims to allegedly earned but unpaid contract funds. The bank claimed a superior interest in the funds because the surety had not yet paid anything under its bond. The Court rejected the bank's claim, holding,

All that is necessary for the surety to prevail is that the contractor be in default as a matter of fact; and that as a result of such default, the surety has become obligated to pay under its performance bond.

183 Ct. Cl. at 912.

Another analogous case is *In re Massart*, 105 B.R. 610 (W.D. Wash. 1989), cited by the Court of Appeals, but not followed. Massart Company had entered into a construction contract with Pierce County; United Pacific issued a performance and payment bond for the project. Massart filed for bankruptcy prior to completion of the project, leaving various subcontractors unpaid. Pierce County paid a \$202,744 progress payment to Massart's trustee in bankruptcy, which resulted in the surety

⁵ It was undisputed that Hartford fully performed its obligations under the Bond. Hartford paid the subcontractors, suppliers and materialmen \$100,350 on the Dalton project (and incurred an additional \$265,518 in losses associated with the project). CP 374.

having to pay the laborers and materialmen. The surety sued the trustee for the progress payment. In defense, the trustee asserted that the surety's equitable rights did not arise until it paid Massart's debts, and since that occurred after Massart declared bankruptcy, the funds belonged to the bankruptcy estate for distribution to creditors. After the Bankruptcy Court granted summary judgment in favor of Massart's bankruptcy trustee, the surety appealed. Citing *Pearlman v. Reliance Ins. Co.*, 371 U.S. 132, 139, 83 S.Ct. 232, 9 L.Ed. 2d 190 (1962),⁶ and other supporting authority, Judge Barbara Rothstein reversed the order, holding that United Pacific's equitable rights arose at the time it signed on as surety under the bond, and as a consequence, Massart did not have a legal or equitable interest in the progress payment at the time it declared bankruptcy. Since the progress payment was not the property of the bankruptcy estate, the trustee was required to turn it over to the surety. *Massart*, 105 B.R. at 612-13.

The Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court's summary judgment orders in favor of the Bank cannot be reconciled with Hartford's recognized subrogation rights, this Court's decision in *Levinson*, or the U.S. Bankruptcy Court's persuasive decision in *In re Massart*.

⁶ Pearlman was also cited by the Court here.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Opinion of the Court of Appeals that Progress Payments Made Under Construction Contracts Held in Trust for a Specific Use Belong to the Contractor and May Be Swept to Repay a Bank Loan Although the Bank Knew or Had Reason to Know the Funds Were Held in Trust Conflicts with Westview Investments, Ltd. v. U.S. Bank National Association, 133 Wn. App. 835 (2006).

The Court of Appeals did not follow *Westview*, purportedly because factual differences made the precedent distinguishable. However, as demonstrated above, critical analysis of the "distinctions" cited by the Court reflect that either the Court failed to acknowledge evidence obviating the distinction or that the distinction lacked significance for purposes of *Westview*'s application, or both. More specifically, both the owners in *Westview* and the surety here were similarly situated in that both were required to complete the project and pay subcontractors and other project expenses; both in *Westview* and here, the contractor was obligated to use progress payments to pay subcontractors; both in *Westview* and here the contractor and the owner contemplated that progress payments would be used to pay subcontractors; and both in *Westview* and here, subcontractors were unpaid at the time the progress payment was made.⁷

The Court's Opinion cannot be reconciled with Westview.

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