DEC 3 1 2014 Ronald R. Carpenter

No. 91069-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant,

v.

COLUMBIA STATE BANK,

Respondent.

COLUMBIA STATE BANK'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Alexander S. Kleinberg, WSBA # 34449 Attorney for Respondent Columbia State Bank

EISENHOWER CARLSON PLLC 1201 Pacific Ave., Ste. 1200 Tacoma, WA 98402 Phone: (253) 572-4500 Facsimile: (253) 272-5732

akleinberg@eisenhowerlaw.com

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

fact that the Bank filed its Uniform Commercial Code Financing

Statement on June 20, 2011, over one (1) year before the setoff in

question, thereby putting the world on notice of the Bank's perfected

security interest in all of WAKA's then existing and thereafter acquired

accounts, general intangibles, and the proceeds thereof. CP 236. From the

reasonable perspective of the Bank on June 21, 2012, Hartford had no

interest in the Project proceeds whatsoever.

Moreover, after the execution of the the Project contract with the federal government (the "GSA Contract"), neither WAKA nor Hartford actually took any actions that were consistent with the idea that Project proceeds were to be placed in an express trust for the benefit of Hartford. Therefore, Hartford cannot establish that it has any rights in the Project proceeds that either prime the perfected security interest of the Bank or defeat its right of setoff. Once the subject progress payment was placed in the free flow of commerce and sent to the Bank without limitation, the Bank was free to apply this money to WAKA's delinquent line of credit pursuant to the Addendum and its right of setoff.

Unlike the property owner in *Westview Investments, Ltd. v. U.S.*Bank National Ass'n, 133 Wn. App. 835, 138 P.3d 638 (2006), Hartford, as a surety, cannot simply rely on its GIA as a manifestation of intent by WAKA to create a trust regarding earned progress payments from the

Project. Since WAKA did not possess an interest in any right to payment from the GSA Contract at the time the GIA was executed, the GIA with its trust verbiage was at best a contract to create a trust in the future.

Further, unlike the bank in *Westview*, the Bank had no actual knowledge that the subject payment from the project owner was made to the general contractor with the *specific understanding* that this money was to be used to pay subcontractors on the job. *Westview*, 133 Wn. App. at 842-43, 138 P.3d 638 (emphasis added). In sum, there simply is no doubt that the GIA did not create an express trust for Hartford that would entitle Hartford to lay claim to the earned progress payment at issue.

Similarly, Hartford never had an equitable lien on the funds at issue, and its continued reliance on *Levinson v. Linderman*, 51 Wn.2d 855, 322 P.2d 863 (1958) is misplaced. In *Levinson*, the Washington Supreme Court held that a surety that performed under its bond was entitled to money deposited into the court registry based on the principle of subrogation. *Id.* at 868, 322 P.2d 863. This money was "the unpaid balance on the construction contracts" as opposed to earned progress payments. *Id.* at 858, 322 P.2d 863. The *Levinson* court noted that "[t]he surety's claim to the withheld funds ... rests upon the doctrine of equitable subrogation that where a surety performs under a performance bond after the default of the contractor, it is entitled to an equitable lien on funds

previously withheld by reason of the contractor's default, at least to the extent of the surety's expenses." *Id.* at 869, 322 P.2d 863.

Hartford's continued reliance on *Levinson* brings to mind the landmark United States Supreme Court case of *Pearlman v. Reliance Insurance Company*, 371 U.S. 132 (1962), which established a surety's equitable right, through subrogation, to construction retainage funds. The instant case, in contrast, addresses the relative priorities of a contractor's secured creditor and its surety not to retained funds, but to *earned progress payments previously disbursed by the government*. Once funds are disbursed by the project owner, subrogation no longer supports a surety's claim to those funds because "[f]unds intended from the inception of a contract to settle potential claims [retainages] differ vastly from progress payments, which belong to the free flow of commerce from the time they are properly paid over." *Capitol Indemn. Corp. v. U.S.*, 41 F.3d 320, 325 (7th Cir. 1995); *see also Bank of Arizona v. National Sur. Corp.*, 237 F.2d 90, 93-94 (9th Cir. 1956).

Because progress payments disbursed by the government enter the "free flow of commerce," courts for decades have rejected the notion that a surety's equitable rights divest a contractor's creditors of those payments. The general rule was well stated in *National Shawmut Bank of Boston v. New Amsterdam Cas. Co.*, 411 F.2d 843, 848 (1st Cir. 1969),

when the First Circuit Court of Appeals stated that "[p]rior to default, the contractor had the right to assign progress payments and had the Bank received payment, it could not (absent circumstances amounting to fraud) have been divested by the surety." *See also Capitol*, 41 F.3d at 327 (surety's equitable lien did not attach to earned progress payment approved for disbursement); *United Pacific Ins. Co. v. U.S.*, 362 F.2d 805, 808 (Ct. Cl. 1966); *National Surety Corp. v. Fisher*, 317 S.W.2d 334, 345 (Mo. 1958).

Levinson is different from this case because it concerns retainage, not earned progress payments. As seen from the United States Supreme Court's decision in Pearlman and the other decisions set forth above, this is an important distinction. Moreover, the surety in Levinson performed under its bond and then used this performance to successfully argue its right of subrogation entitled it to the retainage. In contrast, Hartford seeks to recover the subject GSA progress payment from the Bank even though the payment was made to the Bank and applied to WAKA's line of credit before Hartford performed under its bond, and before Hartford had any subrogation rights. Hartford's claim that Levinson provides it with an enforceable equitable lien on the funds is incorrect, as the lien in that case arose from principles of subrogation and became enforceable after the surety in that case performed under its bond. The fact is the timing of the

contractor's default is not relevant; the relevant inquiry is the date the surety begain to perform under its bond. As pointed out by the *In re Massart Co.* case that Hartford continues to rely upon, 105 B.R. 610 (W.D. Wash. 1989), a surety's rights are inchoate and unenforceable until the surety suffers an actual loss on the bond: "[T]he lien arises upon the execution of the bond *but does not become enforceable* until the surety suffers a loss by making payments pursuant to the obligation under the bond." 105 B.R. at 612 (citations omitted) (emphasis added);

As seen from a similar case entitled *Reliance Insurance Co. v. U.S.*Bank of Washington, 143 F.3d 502 (9th Cir. 1998) and other legal authority that the Bank has presented to the trial court and the Court of Appeals, the bottom line is a surety like Hartford cannot force its contractor's construction lender to disgorge an earned progress payment when the surety has not yet performed under its bond, the lender has no knowledge of the surety's claim to the funds at the time the setoff is made, and the surety's breach of trust claims are based on boilerplate verbiage in a general indemnity agreement that was signed before the principal ever even had an interest in the bonded project.

Hartford has cited *Fidelity & Deposit Co. of Maryland v. United*States, 393 F.2d 834 (Cl. Ct. 1968) to support its claim that the surety can prevail against the bank with respect to contract funds before the surety

has paid anything under its bond. ⁶ But the surety in *Fidelity* paid out hundreds of thousands of dollars to unpaid project laborers in accordance with its bond before it sought to recover the contract balance from the project owner. *Id.* Here, Hartford seeks to recover an earned progress payment that the Project owner paid to the Bank before Hartford paid anything under its bond. As such, *Fidelity* provides no support for Hartford's position.

In addition, the ruling of the Court of Appeals is consistent with the law of bank deposits in Washington. Under Washington law, if the bank depositor has a debt with the bank that has matured, the bank may exercise its right of setoff as to the deposit. *E.g., In re Estate of Adler*, 116 Wn. 484, 489, 199 P. 762 (1921). This means "the bank may apply the deposit, or such portion thereof as may be necessary, to the payment of the debt due it by the depositor[.]" *Sterling Savings Bank v. Air Wisconsin Airlines Corp.*, 492 F.Supp.2d 1256, 1261 (E.D.Wash. 2007) (citing *Conner v. First Nat'l Bank of Sedro-Wooley*, 113 Wn. 662, 665, 194 P. 562 (1921)).

In construing Washington law, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has held that a construction lender like the Bank can exercise its right of setoff by laying claim to an earned progress payment paid to the bank's

⁶ Petition for Review at 12.

contractor borrower when the contractor's surety has sought to obtain this money for itself. *Reliance*, 143 F.3d 502. ⁷

Here, the trial court and Court of Appeals rightly concluded the Bank did nothing wrong when it exercised its common law and contractual right of setoff as to the subject GSA progress payment on June 21, 2012. This setoff occurred three (3) weeks after WAKA's line of credit matured and went into default, and the Bank was free to exercise its right of setoff as to the subject progress payment under applicable case law and the Bank's contract with WAKA. CP 218-222.

B. The Ruling Of The Court Of Appeals Is In Line With Similar Cases From Other Jurisdictions.

As seen from the Bank's answer to Hartford's motion for reconsideration filed in the Court of Appeals, analogous cases from other jurisdictions appear to uniformly hold that the general agreement of indemnity between the surety and the bonded contractor does not create an express trust that enables the surety to lay claim to earned progress payments. *E.g., In re Construction Alternatives, Inc.*, 2 F.3d 670, 677 (6th Cir. 1993) (holding general agreement of indemnity did not create a trust under Ohio law when contractor wasn't required in agreement to keep any portion of progress payments as a separate trust fund); *Acuity v. Planters*

⁷ The Bank briefed the trial court on the *Reliance* case, and this case was thoroughly briefed in the Court of Appeals on pages 23 through 27 of the Bank's Brief of Respondent.

Bank, 362 F.Supp.2d 885, 892 (W.D. Ky 2005) (dismissing surety's claims against contractor's bank on summary judgment and holding neither project contract nor general indemnity agreement created express trust under Kentucky law); *In re Eastern Paving Co.*, 293 B.R. 704 (Bankr.E.D.Mich. 2003) (holding general indemnity agreement was insufficient to create an express trust under Michigan law and denying intervenor Hartford's claim to the payments at issue).

The *Acuity* case out of Kentucky is nearly identical to the case at hand from a factual standpoint. In *Acuity*, a contractor's surety, which had issued payment and performance bonds, brought an action against a bank creditor that had seized a contract progress payment to reduce the contractor's debt under its line of credit with the bank. *Acuity*, 362 F.Supp.2d at 888. The surety asserted it was entitled to this money based on principles of subrogation and the existence of an express trust based on the project contract and its general indemnity agreement with the bonded principal. *Id.* at 889. In ruling for the bank on summary judgment, the district court methodically explained why none of the surety's arguments and theories of recovery carried the day and enabled the surety to lay claim to the earned progress payment. ⁸ *See id.*

Like the contractor in Acuity, WAKA executed the GIA long

⁸ Acuity is discussed in greater detail on pages 17 through 19 of the Bank's Answer to Hartford's Motion for Reconsideration.

before it ever obtained an interest in earned progress payments from the bonded Project. Like the contractor in *Acuity*, WAKA did not take sufficient action to create a trust by declaration. And as was the case in *Acuity*, even if WAKA could be deemed to have agreed to create a trust for Hartford by way of the GIA, "[t]o agree to do so at some future time, unaccompanied by later action or evidence of intent to create a trust, is not enough." *Id*.

C. The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Is Not In Direct Conflict With A Decision Of The Supreme Court Or Another Decision Of The Court Of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is not in conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court or another decision of the Court of Appeals. As seen above, unlike the property owner in *Westview* that was a party to the contract that gave rise to the trust and had rights in the project on the date the contract was executed, Hartford, as a surety, cannot simply rely on its GIA as a manifestation of intent by WAKA to create a trust regarding earned progress payments from the Project. Since WAKA did not possess an interest in any right to payment from the GSA Contract at the time the GIA was executed, the GIA with its trust verbiage was at best a contract to create a trust in the future. *See, e.g., Acuity,* 362 F.Supp.2d 885, 892; *see also In re Eastern Paving Co.,* 293 B.R. 704.

Further, unlike the bank in Westview, the Bank had no actual

knowledge that the subject payment from the project owner was made to the general contractor with the *specific understanding* that this money was to be used to pay subcontractors on the job. *Westview*, 133 Wn. App. at 842-43, 138 P.3d 638 (emphasis added).

Similarly, the Court of Appeals' ruling is not in conflict with *Levinson* or with any other decision of the Washington Supreme Court. Hartford's continued reliance on *Levinson* is misplaced because the surety in that case performed under its bond and *then* used this performance to invoke the doctrine of equitable subrogation to lay claim to the funds at issue. 51 Wn.2d 855, 322 P.2d 863. Moreover, the disputed funds at issue in *Levinson* concerned retainage, which as seen from the Opinion makes them different from earned progress payments under applicable case law such as *Capitol Indemn. Corp. v. United States*, 41 F.3d 320, 325 (7th Cir. 1994) ("Funds intended from the inception of a contract to settle potential claims differ vastly from progress payments, which belong to the free flow of commerce from the time they are properly paid over.").

In short, the Opinion is not in conflict with a decision from the Washington Supreme Court or any other decision of the Court of Appeals.

D. The Petition For Review Does Not Present A Significant Question Of Constitutional Law Or Involve An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By The Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals was correct when it stated "Hartford's argument that all project payments were immediately impressed with a trust to satisfy some future, contingent bond liability would lead to absurd results" and that "[u]nder this argument, Waka could not use project payments to pay subcontractors or pay for other project expenses until completion of the project and discharge of the bond." Opinion at 8. The Court of Appeals was also correct to state "[o]bviously, this result is not what the parties intended." *Id.* If Hartford's proposed rule was the law of the land, construction lending would grind to a halt. No rational lender would provide credit to contractors.

In addition, there simply is no way that sureties will lose their entitlement to the contract funds upon a contractor's default if the Bank prevails on appeal. Sureties have subrogation rights under state and federal law. They also regularly bargain for guarantors or indemnitors prior to issuing a bond, as seen from this case, in which WAKA's president, Andrew Wilson, and his wife Susan Wilson agreed to personally indemnify Hartford for any loss that Hartford incurred from bonding WAKA. CP 68. Further, sureties like Hartford are also free to

charge higher bond premiums to account for their risk or perceived risk.

Sureties are also free to enter into an agreement — prior to the commencement of work on the project — with the contractor and its construction lender, in which the parties could agree up front that all or certain proceeds from the project should be paid into an account that is controlled by the surety as opposed to the lender or contractor.

In sum, the truth is this case does not prevent a significant question of constitutional law, nor does it involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Washington Supreme Court.

III. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny Hartford's petition for review. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court or another decision of the Court of Appeals, and this case does not involve a significant question of constitutional law or an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Washington Supreme Court.